IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 21-0290

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

KYLE LEE SEVERSON,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Seventh Judicial District Court, Richland County, the Honorable Olivia Rieger, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

CHAD WRIGHT Appellate Defender MICHAEL MARCHESINI Assistant Appellate Defender Office of State Public Defender Appellate Defender Division P.O. Box 200147 Helena, MT 59620-0147 Michael.Marchesini@mt.gov (406) 444-9505

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General TAMMY K PLUBELL Bureau Chief Appellate Services Bureau P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the prosecutor's withholding of exculpatory evidence constituted a *Brady* due process violation.
- 2. Whether the prosecutor's repeated misconduct violated Kyle Severson's constitutional right to a fair trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the night of July 2, 2019, Kyle Severson defended himself, his girlfriend, and his 3-year-old daughter against Tyler Hayden, a man who had violently assaulted Kyle on several prior occasions. Immediately after shooting Tyler, Kyle turned himself in to law enforcement and claimed self-defense.

The State charged Kyle with deliberate homicide under Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-102. (District Court Document (Doc.) 4.) The jury found him guilty of the lesser-included offense of mitigated deliberate homicide under Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-103. (Doc. 226.) The District Court sentenced Kyle to 40 years in the Montana State Prison. (Doc. 313 at 4 (Mitigated Deliberate Homicide Judgment, attached as Appendix A).) Kyle was also charged with witness tampering, pled no lo contendere, and received an eight-year concurrent sentence. (Docs. 27, 322, 324 (Tampering Judgment, attached as Appendix B).) Kyle filed a notice of appeal. (Doc. 334.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Kyle's Act of Self-Defense

Kyle and Tyler were teenagers living in Sidney. They had long been acquaintances, but their relationship eventually turned sour when Tyler started harassing and bullying Kyle.

In March 2018, Tyler approached Kyle in a parking lot, berated and shoved him, pulled a gun, and made Kyle give Tyler the money in his pockets. (10/1/2020 Trial Transcript (10/1 Tr.) at 165.) Kyle later sent Tyler a Facebook message referencing "the time you pulled a gun on me," and Tyler did not deny that this happened. (10/1 Tr. at 165–67, 207; Defense Exhibit (Ex.) II.)

On April 25, 2018, Kyle was driving with his brother-in-law, Juan, when Tyler followed them into an IGA parking lot, stopped his car, got out, and violently attacked them. Tyler opened Juan's passenger door, tried to pull Juan out, and started punching him. (10/1 Tr. at 123–24.) The fight continued between Tyler, Juan, and Kyle and was captured on surveillance video. (Defense Ex. H; 10/1 Tr. at 118–19.) Tyler was

 $\mathbf{2}$

yelling and making threats the whole time, saying that whenever he encountered Kyle, he would fight him. (10/1 Tr. at 127–28, 162.) Although not introduced at trial, Tyler sent Kyle a Facebook message afterwards saying, "Expect that every time u see me." (Doc. 299, Ex. 7.) After this incident, Kyle began carrying a gun for protection from Tyler. (10/1 Tr. at 162.)

Kyle also feared Tyler because he knew Tyler "knows how to fight." (9/29/2020 Trial Transcript (9/29 Tr.) at 60.) Kyle had witnessed Tyler punch other people aggressively and without provocation. (9/29 Tr. at 60; 10/1 Tr. at 169.) Dr. Shannon Weisz, a psychologist who would testify as an expert in Kyle's defense, diagnosed Kyle with posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) due to Tyler's repeated violent assaults, threats, and harassment. (10/2/2020 Trial Transcript (10/2 Tr.) at 37–41; Doc. 118, Ex. B.)

A little over a year after Tyler's last assault, on the night of July 2, 2019, Kyle, Karina, her sister Jessica, and Kyle and Karina's 3-year-old daughter got in Karina's car to go to Loaf 'N Jug for snacks. (9/29 Tr. at 42.) Kyle and his daughter sat in the back.

Surveillance footage from a business across the street from Loaf 'N Jug partially captured the events that night. (State's Ex. 32, admitted and published at 9/29 Tr. at 223–30.) When Karina's vehicle pulled into a parking spot, Karina and Jessica went inside, and Kyle and his daughter waited in the car. (9/29 Tr. at 42; Ex. 32 at 0:40–1:12.)

About five minutes later, Tyler and his friend Dalton Watson pulled up next to Kyle's vehicle. (9/29 Tr. at 42–43; Ex. 32 at 5:50–6:00.) Dalton drove, and Tyler was in the passenger seat. Dalton and Tyler went in the store while Karina and Jessica were still inside. (Ex. 32 at 6:20–6:35.) Dalton claimed that his and Tyler's only purpose for going to the Loaf 'N Jug was to purchase cigarettes in between gambling at two different locations in town. (9/30/2020 Trial Tr. (9/30 Tr.) at 140–43.)

Tyler had a baggie of meth and a meth pipe in the glove compartment of Dalton's car. (9/30 Tr. at 55, 186; 10/1 Tr. at 34–36.) A subsequent autopsy report would show that Tyler was under the influence of meth, marijuana, alcohol, and Xanax at the time of the incident. (9/30 Tr. at 42–48, 51; Defense Ex. G.)

Karina testified that when Dalton and Tyler entered the store, she was scared because she knew Tyler was dangerous. She tried to hurry

out of the store to avoid a confrontation with him. (10/1 Tr. at 48, 62, 106–07.) She and Jessica got in line to check out, and Tyler got in line behind them. (10/1 Tr. at 62.) Tyler called her a "bitch" under his breath. (10/1 Tr. at 62.) Surveillance video from inside the store indicated Tyler had an indecipherable bulging object in his sweatshirt pocket that the defense would argue was a gun. (Defense Ex. D at 6; 10/1 Tr. at 140–46.)

Dalton exited the store first (Ex. 32 at 7:40), followed by Karina and Jessica about 30 seconds later (Ex. 32 at 8:15). Tyler came out last, about 20 seconds after Karina and Jessica. (Ex. 32 at 8:35.) As Dalton walked out of the store, he noticed Kyle sitting in the rear driver's side seat of Karina's car. (9/30 Tr. at 146.) Dalton gave conflicting statements that he said nothing to Kyle (9/30 Tr. at 146) and that he made a "smartass remark to Kyle" (9/30 Tr. at 181–82).

Dalton testified that when he got back in his car, he put a .22 pistol in his sweatpants waistband. (9/30 Tr. at 138, 147, 182.) He claimed he did this because he was afraid of Kyle. (9/30 Tr. at 147, 182.) But he conversely claimed the encounter with Kyle seemed like a "friendly encounter." (9/30 Tr. at 182–84.) When Karina got back in her

 $\mathbf{5}$

car, she told Kyle that she ran into Tyler in the store. (9/29 Tr. at 43; 10/1 Tr. at 64.)

Tyler got back in Dalton's car. Moments later, Karina backed out of her parking spot and began to pull forward to leave. (Ex. 32 at 8:50; 9/29 Tr. at 44.) Tyler asked Dalton if that was Kyle in the car next to them, and Dalton said yes. (9/30 Tr. at 148.) Tyler then got out of Dalton's car and approached Kyle's open window, and Karina stopped the car. (Ex. 32 at 9:00; 10/1 Tr. at 65.) The surveillance video's view of Tyler was largely blocked by Karina's car at this point, and it shows only Tyler's feet approaching Kyle's vehicle. (Ex. 32 at 9:00–9:05.)

Dalton claimed that as Tyler got out and approached Kyle, his demeanor was "normal, slow[]moving, he wasn't in very much of a hurry." (9/30 Tr. at 150.) Dalton testified that Tyler said to Kyle as he approached, "Hey, buddy, it's been a long time. How you been doing' in a friendly way." (9/30 Tr. at 150.)

Contrary to Dalton's testimony, Kyle testified that Tyler "approached at a pretty brisk pace, pretty quick . . . similar kind of like the IGA deal." (10/1 Tr. at 172.) As Tyler got closer, Kyle said he "knew that he was obviously going to be violent." (10/1 Tr. at 172.)

Karina and Kyle both testified Tyler said something "aggressive," "taunting," or "vulgar" to Kyle as he approached, although they could not make out his words. (10/1 Tr. at 65, 173.) Karina said she saw Tyler's hands "fidgeting in his pockets like he was trying to grab something." (10/1 Tr. at 66–67.) Kyle testified, "Karina started saying something about how it looked like he had something" on him, and Kyle "notice[d] that too." (10/1 Tr. at 172.) Although Kyle could not explicitly make out a weapon in Tyler's hands, he could not tell whether or not Tyler's hands were empty. (9/29 Tr. at 45, 58, 72; 10/1 Tr. at 234.)

As Tyler arrived at Kyle's window, Kyle—anticipating yet another violent assault—instinctively grabbed a pistol off the car floor, pointed it out the window, pressed it to Tyler's chest, and pulled the trigger. (9/30 Tr. at 151; 10/1 Tr. at 172, 210.)

After Kyle fired the shot, Tyler dropped to the ground, and Karina drove off. (Ex. 32 at 9:08.) According to Karina, Kyle was upset at what had just occurred, and he "kept saying he was sorry" and asking, "Why did I do that?" (10/1 Tr. at 68, 80.) Kyle demanded Karina take him to the police station immediately so he could turn himself in, and she did. (10/1 Tr. at 68.) Kyle presented himself to the dispatcher in the lobby and told her "he was at Loaf 'N Jug, and he shot Tyler Hayden." (9/29 Tr. at 20.) Kyle appeared "panicked," "upset," and was vomiting. (9/29 Tr. at 20, 42, 52, 54.)

Kyle patiently waited in the lobby for deputies to arrive, at which point they took him into custody. (9/29 Tr. at 20.) He waived his *Miranda* rights and freely told Officer Gomke everything that happened. (9/29 Tr. at 42, 54; Doc. 104, Ex. 1¹.)

Kyle told Gomke about the history between him and Tyler and that, based on Tyler's past assaults, Kyle feared him. (10/1 Tr. at 212–13.) Although he described Tyler's IGA assault, Kyle neglected to mention the March 2018 incident when Tyler mugged him at gunpoint. (10/1 Tr. at 213.) Kyle said he was scared because Tyler seemed high and was therefore unpredictable—Tyler's pupils were "large," which "caught his attention." (9/29 Tr. at 61.)

Gomke asked Kyle why he shot Tyler, and Kyle said he "felt threatened," "thought he was going to hurt him," and thought Tyler

¹ The video of this interview is in the record, but it was not played for the jury.

might hurt Karina or their daughter. (9/29 Tr. at 46, 49, 50, 55, 59, 62.) Kyle likewise testified that he pulled the trigger because, "I didn't want to get hurt, I didn't want my daughter to get hurt since she was sitting right next to me." (10/1 Tr. at 175–76.) Gomke asked Kyle if he saw a weapon in Tyler's hands, and he said he could not tell one way or the other. (9/29 Tr. at 45, 58, 72.)

Back at the Loaf 'N Jug, Dalton rushed out of his car after Tyler was shot. He sprained his knee on the sidewalk, limped over to a few feet beyond Tyler, picked a gun up off the ground, and put it back in his car before tending to Tyler.² (Ex. 32 at 9:12–9:32; 9/30 Tr. at 153.)

In his initial interview with police the night of the incident, Dalton did not mention anything about this gun. (9/30 Tr. at 58.) Months later, during a September 2019 interview, police confronted Dalton about the gun he picked up off the ground near Tyler. Dalton claimed this was his own pistol, which "had blow[n] out of his waistband" when he got out of his car and sprained his knee, flew

 $^{^2}$ Officers found this .22 pistol in Dalton's vehicle after the incident. (9/30 Tr. at 75.)

through the air, and coincidentally landed near Tyler's body. (9/30 Tr. at 58.)

Contrary to Dalton's theory about his flying gun, the defense argued Tyler was holding this pistol and was preparing to assault or kill Kyle with it. The defense argued Tyler dropped the gun when Kyle shot him, and Dalton picked it up and put it in his car to conceal the fact that Tyler was intending to harm Kyle. (10/2 Tr. at 207.)

The State's Suppression of Exculpatory Evidence

In the days before the shooting, Kyle and Karina heard rumors Tyler was planning to rob and "hurt" Kyle. (9/29 Tr. at 56–57.) Mere hours after the shooting, when Karina returned to her and Kyle's home, she discovered their home had indeed been burglarized. (10/1 Tr. at 69–71.)

Police investigated this burglary, and by August 2019, they identified Tyler's girlfriend, Keaston Johns, as a primary suspect. Two additional suspects were friends with Dalton and often stayed at his apartment. (Doc. 197, Exs. A, B, D, E.)

Police also searched Dalton's apartment during an unrelated drug raid, and they discovered in his personal safe various items stolen from

Kyle's home during the burglary, including Karina's identification card and watch. Investigators also learned that just hours after the shooting, Keaston gave Dalton \$300 in cash that she had stolen from Kyle's home.³ (Doc. 197, Exs. D, E; 9/30 Tr. at 60–66, 162–68.)

When the defense filed a motion to compel discovery of this law enforcement information about the burglary on October 30, 2019, the State vigorously objected. (Docs. 20, 26.) The State asserted if the defense wanted information about the burglary investigation, it could do its own investigation. (Doc. 26 at 2.) The State promised the burglary was completely irrelevant to the shooting. (Doc. 26 at 3; 12/11/2019 Hearing Transcript (12/11/2019 Tr.) at 14.) Based on these representations, the District Court denied the defense's discovery motion on January 6, 2020. (Doc. 44 at 10–11.)

On January 24, 2020, law enforcement officers investigating the burglary sent the prosecutor two "request[s] for prosecution" of the

³ The State conveniently declined to prosecute Dalton for possession of stolen property from the burglary. (9/30 Tr. at 61.) And after finding Dalton in possession of methamphetamine during the drug raid, the State offered Dalton a generous pretrial diversion agreement. (9/28 Tr. at 274.) The District Court admonished the prosecutor, "it was a bad idea to do a deferred prosecution with a witness in a homicide." (9/28 Tr. at 274.)

primary burglary suspects, Logan Krauser and Keaston. (Doc. 197, Exs. A, B.) The accompanying police reports detailed Dalton's possession of the stolen property from Kyle's home. (Doc. 197, Exs. D, E.)

Without notifying defense counsel or the District Court about these documents, the prosecutor sat on the requests until July 2020, at which point she referred the cases to the State Attorney General's office for further review. (Doc. 175 at 2; Doc. 197, Ex. C.) The prosecutor never brought charges for the burglary. (9/30 Tr. at 64.)

The defense filed another motion to compel discovery of the burglary information on September 4, 2020. (Doc. 151.) At a September 11 hearing, the State reiterated its objection to disclosure on the basis the burglary was totally irrelevant. (9/11/2020 Hearing Transcript (9/11/2020 Tr.) at 45–46.) Over the prosecutor's repeated protestations, the District Court ordered the State to give Kyle the burglary reports, reasoning he deserved access to them as the victim of the crime. (9/11/2020 Tr. at 46.)

Upon reviewing the burglary reports, the defense argued the State had deliberately suppressed "a treasure trove" of relevant, exculpatory evidence. (Doc. 191 at 1; Doc. 197 at 1.) Defense counsel explained that,

based on the reports, it appeared Tyler, Dalton, Keaston, and two other friends had conspired to burglarize Kyle's home. (Doc. 197 at 2.) Contrary to Dalton's innocent explanation for him and Tyler running into Kyle at the Loaf 'N Jug, it appeared the two intercepted Kyle there with the purpose "to inflict harm and violence on Kyle in an effort to slow up" his progress in returning home while the burglars finished the job. (Doc. 197 at 2; 9/22/2020 Hearing Transcript (9/22/2020 Tr.) at 38–39, 49–50.)

In light of this late-breaking information about Dalton's connection to the burglary, the defense moved to compel discovery of the contents of Dalton's cell phone, which the State had seized the night of the shooting and held ever since. (Doc. 210.) Defense counsel asserted the phone likely contained exculpatory evidence regarding the planning of the burglary and the true motives of Tyler and Dalton that night. (Doc. 210 at 2.) Counsel emphasized that had the State provided the burglary reports when first asked roughly a year earlier, "the issue of Mr. Watson's phone could have been addressed long ago." (Doc. 210 at 4; 9/28/2020 Trial Transcript (9/28 Tr.) at 281–82.)

On the second day of trial, the court expressed regret for its denial of the initial October 2019 motion to compel discovery of the burglary information. (9/29 Tr. at 118.) The court said it was falsely "led to believe that the [burglary] information was not in any way shape or form relevant," when it clearly was. (9/29 Tr. at 118–22.)

The court asked the State if it had ever examined Dalton's phone during the 15 months it sat in evidence. (9/28 Tr. at 281–82.) The prosecutor said no, because she had no reason to believe it contained exculpatory evidence. (9/28 Tr. at 282.) The District Court sharply questioned the prosecutor how she could know the phone did not contain exculpatory evidence without ever having looked at it. (9/28 Tr. at 282–83.) The court said, "I'm very troubled by this evidence and the disclosure. I'm – the Court is worried about *Brady* violations here. I'm worried about exculpatory or inculpatory evidence not being disclosed." (9/28 Tr. at 283.)

The court ordered that during lunch the next day, Dalton would present his phone to the court and allow the parties to review it for exculpatory information. (9/28 Tr. at 284.) When the prosecutor told Dalton about this, Dalton asked if he had to unlock his phone for the

judge. (9/29 Tr. at 101.) The prosecutor told him only that she could not give him legal advice. (9/29 Tr. at 101.)

Dalton then claimed he could not remember his passcode. (9/29 Tr. at 102–06.) As a result of Dalton's convenient forgetfulness, the parties could not open his phone. (9/29 Tr. at 109–10.) The court stated it was "suspicious" of Dalton's claimed lapse of memory. (9/29 Tr. at 115.)

The court vented at the State's "reckless" failure to examine Dalton's phone sooner, given the potential it contained exculpatory evidence. (9/29 Tr. at 111–14.) The court stated, "I have significant concerns for the record that this is a *Brady* violation." (9/29 Tr. at 111.) The court then said, "Jeopardy has attached so, I'm very concerned, very concerned." (9/29 Tr. at 114.)

Because trial had already begun, and it would take time for law enforcement to hack into Dalton's phone, the court asked the defense if they wished for a continuance. (9/29 Tr. at 114.) Defense counsel answered no, explaining Kyle had "been in custody for 15 months already" and wished to see the case resolved without further delays. (9/29 Tr. at 114; 10/1 Tr. at 20–21.) The State argued it had satisfied its *Brady* obligations by simply notifying the defense it possessed Dalton's phone, and it sought to blame the defense for not requesting the phone's contents earlier. (9/29 Tr. at 115.) The District Court rejected this view, explaining the defense could not have known the potential relevance of Dalton's phone prior to getting the reports from the burglary investigation, which the State had improperly withheld for a year. (9/29 Tr. at 119.)

The defense then moved under *Brady* to exclude Dalton from testifying. (9/29 Tr. at 122.) The court stated that "a sanction of some sort is warranted" because there was no way to tell if the withheld evidence was exculpatory, and "therein lies some prejudice to the Defendant." (9/29 Tr. at 234–35.) The court reiterated the State's withholding had caused "prejudice to the Defendant and his right to have due process and present a defense," as well as to the court's ability "to issue a proper ruling" on the *Brady* motion. (9/29 Tr. at 235; 9/30 Tr. at 115.) Because the court could not make a "finding of clear exculpatory value" of the unknown contents of Dalton's phone, however, the court said it could not determine at that time whether or not a *Brady* violation had occurred. (Doc. 223 at 2.)

As a "sanction," the court said it would allow the defense to crossexamine State witnesses about the burglary, the State's lenient treatment of Dalton with respect to the burglary and his drug charge, and the lack of analysis of Dalton's phone. (9/29 Tr. at 235–38; 9/30 Tr. at 66; Doc. 223.) But the court declined to exclude Dalton from testifying. (9/29 Tr. at 235–36; Doc. 223.)

On the third day of trial, the defense filed a motion to dismiss the case with prejudice due to the prosecutor's *Brady* violations. (Doc. 224; 9/30 Tr. at 210.) The next morning, on the fourth day of trial, the court said it would reserve its ruling on this motion until after trial. (10/1 Tr. at 21.) At the same time, the court reiterated its concern with the State's withholding of potentially exculpatory evidence on Dalton's phone. The court referred to the situation as "a disaster" that could have been avoided had the prosecutor handed over the burglary reports back in October 2019. (10/1 Tr. at 22–23.) The court also described the prosecutor's actions as "a failure of justice." (10/1 Tr. at 23.)

After trial, the District Court denied the motion to dismiss, explaining that because no one knew what information Dalton's phone contained, the defense could not satisfy the first prong of a *Brady* claim:

that the State possessed evidence favorable to the accused. (Doc. 229 at 3.)

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