11/07/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 21-0290

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 21-0290

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

KYLE LEE SEVERSON,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Seventh Judicial District Court, Richland County, The Honorable Olivia Rieger, Presiding

#### APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
CHRISTINE HUTCHISON
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
chutchison@mt.gov

CHARITY McLARTY Richland County Attorney 300 12th Avenue NW Sidney, MT 59270

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

The State's failure to realize that Dalton's possession of money and items from Severson's home implicated Dalton's credibility or motive to testify is not indicative of bad faith. This Court has adopted a bad faith requirement for instances in which the exculpatory value of the disputed evidence is unknown.

State v. Craig, 169 Mont. 150, 153, 545 P.2d 649, 651 (1976) (citing *United States* v. Keogh, 391 F.2d 138 (2d Cir. 1968)). Here, the exculpatory value, or lack thereof, is known because the contents of Dalton's phone are known. Therefore, this Court's bad faith analysis is inapplicable. Further, this Court adopted the bad faith requirement for potentially exculpatory evidence from Keogh.

In *Keogh*, the court cited examples of bad faith. *Keogh*, 391 F.2d at 147 (citing *People v. Savvides*, 1 N.Y.2d 554 (1956) (prosecutor failed to correct a witness's known false testimony that they did not receive a plea offer in exchange for their testimony at trial); *Napue v. Illinois*, 360 U.S. 264 (1959) (same); *Miller v. Pate*, 386 U.S. 1 (1967) (prosecutor repeatedly referred to stains on defendant's shorts as blood stains and said it was type "A" but postconviction testing revealed it was paint and the prosecutor knew that at the time of trial); *United State ex rel. Meers v. Wilkins*, 326 F.2d 135 (2d Cir. 1964) (two witnesses of a crime said the defendant was not one of the individuals they saw commit the crime, and the prosecution suppressed those two witnesses' statements).

Here, the prosecution's failure to recognize the potential impeachment value of the burglary investigative files does not amount to bad faith. At the initial motion to compel hearing, the prosecutor had not yet received the investigative files and did not know who the alleged burglary suspects were nor that Dalton had admitted to receiving money from the burglary. The State explained during another

hearing on September 11, 2020, that the State had relied on the court's prior ruling that the burglary was not relevant to the homicide and asserted that the burglary could not have gone to the reasonableness of Severson's fear because Severson did not know about the burglary that occurred after the homicide. The State repeatedly told the court the alleged burglary happened after the homicide, that no witnesses from Severson's case were among those suspected of committing the robbery, and that, therefore, it was irrelevant. While the prosecution was wrong that it had no relevance because it could have impeachment value, the State's conduct was far from the intentional conduct referenced in *Keogh*.

## C. Should this Court find that a *Brady* violation occurred, the proper remedy is a new trial.

Dismissal of criminal charges is a severe sanction reserved for the most egregious or outrageous government misconduct. *State v. Lindsey*, 2011 MT 46, ¶ 45, 359 Mont. 362, 249 P.3d 491. As this Court has noted, when the prosecution fails to disclose exculpatory evidence, the proper remedy is retrial, not dismissal of the charges. *Id.* (citing *Brady*); *State v. Schauf*, 2009 MT 281, ¶ 26, 352 Mont. 186, 216 P.3d 740 (citing *Brady*).

Severson proposes the appropriate remedy in his case is dismissal and cites only to *State v. Swanson*, 222 Mont. 357, 722 P.2d 1155 (1986), in support of his assertion. (Appellant's Br. at 40.) However, Swanson did not allege a *Brady* claim, but instead argued that officers impeded his right to gather exculpatory evidence

by letting a blood sample sit out on the booking room table for days rather than refrigerating it. *Swanson*, 222 Mont. at 360-62, 722 P.2d at 1157-58.

Severson has not provided any authority for deviating from the proper remedy for *Brady* violations. The evidence Severson alleges is exculpatory was not destroyed. Should this Court find a *Brady* violation in Severson's case, the proper remedy is remand for retrial, not dismissal.

# IV. This Court should decline to review Severson's prosecutorial misconduct claims because he waived or acquiesced to any potential error.

This Court has repeatedly held that issues raised for the first time on appeal are untimely and that it will not consider them. *State v. LaFreniere*, 2008 MT 99, ¶ 11, 342 Mont. 309, 180 P.3d 1161 (citation omitted). This includes new arguments or changes in legal theory. *Id*.

A party waives the right to appeal an alleged error when the appealing party acquiesced in, actively participated in or did not object to the asserted error. *State v. Winter*, 2014 MT 235, ¶ 17, 376 Mont. 284, 333 P.3d 222. Further, an "objection must be specific in order to preserve the issue for appeal." *LaFreniere*, ¶ 12.

Severson asserts prosecutorial misconduct based on the cross-examination of Karina regarding stolen items that could be indicative of drug dealing. (Appellant's Br. at 22.) However, Severson did not object when the State asked if other items

were stolen. Severson objected to the State's question about whether others knew they had drugs, guns, or cash in the house, but on speculation and argumentative grounds, not prejudice or relevance.

While Severson objected to the State's question of whether Severson posted photos of cash, drugs, and guns on social media and asserted it violated the motion in limine, the court adopted Severson's proposed curative instruction and permitted him to elicit testimony about the requirements for a medical marijuana license.

Severson expressly declined to ask for a mistrial and did not object to the court's curative remedies.

Similarly, Severson claims the prosecution committed misconduct by shifting the burden regarding the examination of Dalton's phone. (Appellant's Br. at 41.) However, Severson declined any curative instruction.

Severson has waived appellate review of these misconduct allegations by waiver and acquiescence, and this Court should decline to review them.

A. Even if this Court reviews Severson's misconduct claims, this Court should affirm Severson's conviction because he has not established that he was prejudiced.

Prosecutorial misconduct constitutes reversible error only when it prejudices a defendant's substantial rights. *Lehrkamp*,¶ 15. When a "defendant claims a prosecutor's remarks violated his right to a fair trial, but the challenged remarks do not implicate another right of the accused such as the right to counsel or the right

to remain silent, our analysis focuses on whether the challenged statements so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." *State v. Polak*, 2021 MT 307, ¶ 18, 406 Mont. 421, 499 P.3d 565 (citation omitted). In making that determination, this Court considers the context of the entire proceedings. *Id.* (citations omitted). "[I]t is not enough that the prosecutors' remarks were undesirable or even universally condemned." *Id.* (citation omitted; alteration in the original).

This Court will not presume that the alleged prosecutorial misconduct prejudiced the defendant. *Id.* "[R]ather, the defendant must demonstrate, from the record, that the prosecutor's misstatements prejudiced him." *Lehrkamp*, ¶ 15 (citation omitted).

Severson raises several allegations of prosecutorial misconduct; however, even if all of the alleged actions were inappropriate, Severson has not met his burden of establishing prejudice.

Severson first alleges that the State committed misconduct by filing a notice asserting that Severson waived his attorney-client privilege by communicating with counsel on the jail phone, which instructed callers that their calls were recorded. (Appellant's Br. at 40-41.) Not only was the prosecution's request to review the audio denied and the State never listened to the calls, the district court correctly noted that but for the jail's handbook, which instructed inmates they could make

confidential calls on that phone, case law instructed that Severson would have waived his attorney-client privilege. (Doc. 180 at 2-4.)

Severson next claims the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by charging Karina. (Appellant's Br. at 41.) Documents from Karina's case are not part of Severson's district court record; however, the record indicates that the district court granted leave to file an Information against Karina. Following a substitution of judge, the court dismissed the charges. (Doc. 172 at 1-2.) The district court originally found probable cause to charge Karina. While the court ultimately concluded there was no probable cause, Severson has not met his burden of showing that the charge against Karina was improper. Moreover, Severson has failed to establish any prejudice because Karina testified as a defense witness at Severson's trial.

Severson also alleges the State inappropriately questioned whether the defense independently requested to examine Dalton's phone. The witness answered in the affirmative, and when the State followed up to clarify, the defense objected, the defense declined a curative instruction, and the question was never answered. No evidence was admitted at trial that Severson failed to attempt to examine the phone himself.

Finally, Severson claims the prosecution committed misconduct eluding to drug dealing during Karina's cross-examination. However, Karina testified she had

a medical marijuana card on direct, Severson testified on direct that he was a licensed medical marijuana provider, and Karina also testified on direct that a gun was stolen from their residence along with large sums of cash. While the prosecutor asked Karina whether Severson posted pictures of guns, cash, and drugs on social media, both Karina and Severson testified on direct in the defense's case-in-chief regarding the presence of guns, drugs, and large sums of money in their home.

Following Severson's objection, the jury was instructed that the State's questioning was improper and that jurors should disregard it. Further, Severson testified that he had to pass a criminal background check and have a clean criminal history in order to get licensed as a medical marijuana provider. Under the totality of the evidence at trial, the State's questions regarding marijuana, guns, and cash did not prejudice Severson because it was merely cumulative to other evidence.

B. This Court should decline to review Severson's IAC claim because it is not record-based, and there are tactical reasons why his counsel would have declined to pursue a mistrial.

Severson asserts his counsel was ineffective for not pursuing a mistrial, claiming there was no logical reason not to ask for one. (Appellant's Br. at 43-47.) However, Severson was aware that the contents of Dalton's phone were unknown and that they could either help or hinder his defense on retrial.

This Court reviews IAC claims applying the two-prong test set forth by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). A defendant arguing IAC has a burden to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *Baca v. State*, 2008 MT 371, ¶ 16, 346 Mont. 474, 197 P.3d 948.

A trial counsel's performance is deficient if it falls "below an objective standard of reasonableness measured under prevailing professional norms and in light of the surrounding circumstances." *Whitlow*, ¶ 20. In evaluating whether counsel's performance was deficient, this Court indulges "a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Id.* ¶ 15 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689). This highly deferential review of counsel's performance is necessary to "eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight." *Worthan v. State*, 2010 MT 98, ¶ 10, 356 Mont. 206, 232 P.3d 380. The mere fact that counsel failed to take an available measure or action is generally insufficient to establish that counsel's performance was deficient. *State v. Mahoney*, 264 Mont. 89, 101-02, 870 P.2d 65, 73 (1994).

Before reaching the merits of an IAC claim on direct appeal, this Court must first determine whether the claim is record- or nonrecord-based. *State v. Rovin*, 2009 MT 16, ¶ 34, 349 Mont. 57, 201 P.3d 780. This Court will review IAC claims

on direct appeal if the claims are based solely on the record. *Id.* ¶ 24. Because there is a "strong presumption that counsel's actions are within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, a record which is silent about the reasons for the attorney's actions or omissions seldom provides sufficient evidence to rebut this presumption." *State v. Sartain*, 2010 MT 213, ¶ 30, 357 Mont. 483, 241 P.3d 1032 (quotation marks and citation omitted). Accordingly, if the record does not explain "why" counsel did not take an action, the IAC is more suitable for a petition for postconviction relief. *Id.* A nonrecord-based claim may be addressed on direct appeal, "[i]n rare instances," if there is no plausible justification for defense counsel's actions or omission. *State v. Fender*, 2007 MT 268, ¶ 10, 339 Mont. 395, 170 P.3d 971.

Severson claims a mistrial would have barred retrial because the prosecution goaded him into asking for a mistrial. (Appellant's Br. at 44.) However, as this Court has explained, "a defendant arguing that his mistrial motion was goaded by prosecutorial misconduct 'will succeed only with great difficulty." *City of Helena v. Wittinghill*, 2009 MT 343, ¶ 14, 353 Mont. 131, 219 P.3d 1244 (quoting *State v. Mallak*, 2005 MT 49, ¶ 20, 326 Mont. 165, 109 P.3d 209). To succeed, "there must be a finding of 'Machiavellian' design and a vision of future moves worthy of a chess master." *Mallak*, ¶ 20 (citation omitted).

In *Mallak*, this Court rejected defendant's assertions that the prosecution goaded him into a mistrial. *Mallak*, ¶ 26. This Court noted that the prosecution had presented a strong case prior to the grant of the mistrial. *Id*. Similarly, there are no facts in the record that would have supported a belief from the State that Severson was about to be acquitted. At the time of the alleged prosecutorial misconduct, evidence in the record established that Severson shot Tyler within a second of him reaching Severson's window, that Severson said nothing to Tyler before shooting him, that Tyler's hands were raised when he shot him, and that Karina who had witnessed the entire encounter did not believe he should have shot Tyler. The State's questioning in this matter was far more limited and unprejudicial than that which this Court has found to be intentional goading. *See State v. Laster*, 223 Mont. 152, 724 P.2d 721 (1986).

Severson's counsel may reasonably have believed it was better to avoid a mistrial when the defense utilized sanctions to their advantage rather than risk that nothing exculpatory would be found on Dalton's phone. Severson has not established that there was no plausible reason for Severson's counsel to decline to ask for a mistrial, and the reasons why counsel declined to ask for a mistrial are not in the record. This Court should decline to review Severson's IAC claim on direct because it is not record-based.

C. This Court should decline to invoke plain error review because Severson has failed to establish that failing to do so would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice or leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the proceedings.

Severson alternatively requests that this Court review his claims under the plain error doctrine. (Appellant's Br. at 47-49.) This Court may review a claim alleging a violation of a constitutional right under the plain error doctrine where the defendant invokes this Court's inherent authority and establishes that failure to review the error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or procedure, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process. State v. Taylor, 2010 MT 94, ¶¶ 12-13, 356 Mont. 167, 231 P.3d 79. An error is plain only if it leaves one "firmly convinced" that some aspect of the trial, if not addressed, would result in one of the previously listed consequences. *Id.* ¶ 17. This Court invokes plain error review "sparingly, on a case-by-case basis, according to narrow circumstances, and considering the totality of the circumstances." State v. Williams, 2015 MT 247, ¶ 16, 380 Mont. 445, 358 P.3d 127.

Severson does not raise new claims that he believes warrant reversal under plain error review but instead argues that the claims otherwise raised warrant plain error review and reversal for cumulative error.

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